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ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications

Questions submitted by Mr Julian Hill MP (Deputy Chair)
Question Number: 1

Topic: Ineligible Applications

(Hansard page 4)

Mr HILL: I'd also like to know if the minister or the ministerial panel expressed any interest in the other
applications that provided a response, having been deemed ineligible under the guidelines?

Dr Bacon: For each project that goes before a decision-maker in our programs, we would normally provide
advice on both the merit assessment and eligibility matters. In the course of administering this program, we
provided a range of advice to—

Mr HILL: That's not the question I'm asking. | understand that you provided advice. My question is: what
interest did the minister or the ministerial panel show in this other application that was also considered
ineligible? I think that's a very reasonable question, given the audit report and your confirmation at the last
hearing that the minister showed strong preference for Nolan Meats. So I'd like to know: what, if any, view was
expressed by the ministerial panel on the other ineligible application, and why was it deemed ineligible?

Dr Bacon: Interms of other projects, we haven't gone through, or don't have with us today, all of the
information about other projects. We've come with information about the Nolan Meats project because that was
the focus of our discussion last time.

Mr HILL: Sure. | did say when I wrote to your secretary on Wednesday that we'd have questions arising from
the information provided, and these seem to be fairly obvious logical questions, having read the information you
provided back.

Dr Bacon: I'msorry; | don't have the information about the other project. We'd have to go back through our
records and check the information about that project.

Answer:

The Department has no information that would indicate that the Minister or the Ministerial
Panel gave additional consideration to the other ineligible application.

The application was from a tertiary education provider. Section 7.2.2 of the RJIP Guidelines
states that applicants are not eligible if they are a higher education provider, or Technical and
Further Education (TAFE) body.
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Question Number: 2

Topic: Applications to the Wide Bay Burnett RJIP Region

(Hansard page 6)

Mr HILL: That was the recommendation brief, but when did they get the full list of applicants? It's a different
question.

Ms Wieland: At that point they would have got the department's recommendations of rankings of all of the
applications and eligibility.

Mr HILL: Yes, but what I'm trying to establish is: when did they get the full list of applicants? Not the
recommendations and not the assessments—at what point did Minister McVeigh and his office get the full list of
applicants? It's a very different question to the recommendations or assessments. I've worked with ministers. It's
quite normal for them to say, 'Look, | want to get an initial feel for how demand is going and where our spread
is." It would be entirely routine, but I'd like to know the date when the minister first received the list of
applicants.

Dr Bacon: We would respond to queries on a case-by-case basis in our different programs.

Mr HILL: Of course.

Dr Bacon: We'd have to double-check whether that was the case here.

Mr HILL: It's possible your answer is that the department didn't send the full list of applicants until the
recommendation.

CHAIR: Order—not to direct witnesses.

Ms Wieland: As neither of us were here at the time, we're unable to say what we personally did. We'd have to
go back and check records.

Mr HILL: Okay. Can you take that on notice?

Dr Bacon: Yes, we can.

Mr HILL: Could you advise whether the full list of applicants was provided to all panel members at this time,
or just to Minister McVeigh?

Dr Bacon: We'll check that.

Answer:

The Department provided the then Minister Nash’s Office with a list of applicants on

5 October 2017. The Department’s records show that the first time the Department provided
Minister McVeigh a list of applicants was on 5 February 2018 as part of the
Recommendation Brief for the Wide Bay Burnett region.
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Question Number: 3

Topic: Ineligible Applicants due to their RTO status

(Hansard page 11)

Mr HILL: Why did the department provide advice on the four applications that were ineligible due to their
RTO status? Were they all in Wide Bay-Burnett?

Dr Bacon: I'd have to double-check to see what regions they were from, but we would provide advice around
eligibility, advice around merit assessment, so that we could ensure a decision-maker had all of the information
they needed to make the best-quality decisions.

Mr HILL: Can you take on notice, then, what else was in that briefing regarding the four RTOs and could you
provide a copy of the briefing, understanding that you might want to redact the name of the other RTOs.

Dr Bacon: In my opening statement I referred to the principles and the practices that we operate under in
relation to material that could reveal the deliberations of cabinet. I think | mentioned earlier that, in relation to
the content of the advice that we've provided, the content of the advice that we provided in February goes to that
as considered by cabinet.

Mr HILL: This is one of those grey zones. Did cabinet set up this whole decision-making process to be
protected or was it only later that the government decided to pop this into cabinet?

Ms Wieland: That's not my understanding. My understanding is that it was always planned to go to cabinet.
Mr HILL: Can you still take that on notice and give further consideration to whether there are aspects of those
preliminary pieces of briefing. I'm not hearing you suggest that all aspects of the decision-making were covered
by cabinet processes.

Dr Bacon: We're happy to take the question on notice.

Answer:

Information was provided about each of the four applications to give context to the
ineligibility status of RTOs. The applicants were not all in the Wide Bay Burnett region:

e 1 project was in the RJIP region of Wide Bay Burnett

e 1 project was in the RJIP region of Bowen Basin.

e 1 project was in the RJIP region of Regional Tasmania.
e 1 project was in the RJIP region of Upper Spencer Gulf.

As stated by Dr Bacon at the hearing it is a longstanding practice not to disclose information
about the operation and business of the Cabinet, as to do so could potentially reveal the
deliberations of the Cabinet, which are confidential.
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Question Number: 4

Topic: Senate Order for the Production of Documents

(Hansard page 25)

Mr HILL: On page 3 of FOI 20-050, an email advises Ms Wieland that a sample of documents was pulled
together based on the Geelong region, and, Ms Wieland, you responded that 'using one batch to indicate the
handling approach would be helpful.' What was the handling approach?

Dr Bacon: As I've said already, it is appropriate for the department to provide advice on how these different
processes work. That can include advice on relevant considerations to take into account when handling requests
such as this, and that is the type of advice that the department provided in this case.

Mr HILL: Could you take it on notice and then tell us when you provided that advice in writing, and can we
have a copy of that advice—redacted, of course?

Dr Bacon: We'll take that on notice.

Mr HILL: Could you release the 'not particularly sensitive documents' to the committee?

Dr Bacon: | will take that on notice.

Mr HILL: Did the department provide advice to the Deputy Prime Minister for his public interest immunity
claim letter tabled on 2 December 2019?

Dr Bacon: I think I might have already answered that question. The department provides advice on how these
various parliamentary processes work. We did provide some advice in this case, as you've referred to already, in
relation to Senate orders for the production of documents and relevant considerations and how that process
works.

Mr HILL: If you can take on notice: when was that advice provided, in what form and on what dates; what
were the responses from the Deputy Prime Minister, his office, when, in what form and on what dates; what was
the involvement you referred to the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet and what was their
involvement, when, in what form and on what dates; and was the Prime Minister's office contacted, when, in
what form and what dates?

Answer:

Officials from the Department met with the relevant adviser in mid November 2019 to show
the relevant documents. The Department’s advice, the timing of that advice and the
interactions of the Department with the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet and
the Deputy Prime Minister’s Office are in the documents provided under Freedom of
Information request FOI-20-050, which is published at the Department’s Freedom of
Information Disclosure Log, accessible at:
https://www.infrastructure.gov.au/department/ips/log.aspx.
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Question Number: 5

Topic: Conflict of Interest - Regional Planning Committee Tropical North Queensland
Region

(Hansard page 27)

Mr HILL: Finally, I understand with regard to the issue of conflict of interest not being adequately managed
that the major issue related to the awarding of $2.4 million to the QRX Group in Cairns under the tropical North
Queensland when the wife of the chair of the local planning committee held a one-third state in the company.
The audit report notes that the applicant had not declared the conflict at the application stage. The chair had
returned a blank declaration of consent by family members and the conflict was not declared once the committee
was operational even though the local planning committee's terms of reference required that the declaration of
conflicts of interest must be a standing agenda item for all committee members. Was this conflict of interest
disclosed in the ministerial panel?

Dr Bacon: The department has discussed this matter extensively with the Senate committee on rural and
regional affairs and transport. It may be useful if you want to look at the Hansard from that committee of 21
May 2018. We can provide page references for that Hansard if that is helpful. Also it was discussed in that
committee on 22 October 2018, as well as in responses to questions on notice. So there is quite a lot of detail if
it would assist the committee in referencing that material. If it's useful, we'd be happy to provide copies of those
Hansards.

Mr HILL: Given you're across that, let's not go over it now, but if you could provide it that would be good.
Does the Audit Office consider it appropriate for the ministerial panel to award funding to the wife of the chair
of the local planning committee? Is that a matter which should be declared?

Answer:

Extracts from Hansard of the Senate Committee on Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport
Estimates Hearings of 21 May 2018 and 22 October 2018 are at Attachments A and B.

e Attachment A: Extract from Committee hearing of 21 May 2018.

e Attachment B: Extract from Committee hearing of 22 October 2018

Responses to relevant Questions on Notice from the hearings are at Attachment C.
e Attachment C: Responses to Questions on Notice
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Senator WATT: I've got some other questions about the Regional Jobs and Investment
Package, and I know Senator McCarthy started asking about that. Can we just clarify what the
process was for the selection of RJIP local planning committee members and chairs?

Ms Wieland: We took that question on notice from Senator McCarthy.
Senator WATT: But is there no-one here who can advise in a general sense—

Ms Wieland: Unfortunately, Marie and I weren't here at the time that process was
undertaken.

Senator WATT: Is there anyone behind you who was?
Ms Taylor: No, we'll have to take that on notice.

Dr Kennedy: We can try to get someone in later this evening. Are you going to have a
series of questions?

Senator WATT: I do. I wonder whether it might be better—I just figure that I'm going to
be told over and over again, 'We don't know the answer to that question.' Is there anyone here
who has any knowledge of any particular local committees or particular grants that have been
awarded?

Ms Wieland: 1 can step you through the general process, but if it's a question about some
of the detail that Senator McCarthy asked earlier I couldn't answer that.

Senator WATT: Sure. So, as I said, is there anyone here who has any knowledge of any
particular grants or particular committees and their operations?

Ms Wieland: Just in broad terms, those committees were established by Senator Nash.
That's the detail of how they were established that Senator McCarthy was looking for. Once
they were established, they developed local investment plans that outlined strategies and
priorities for that region. Then it was open for a merit based application process within each
of the 10 regions. Applicants were asked to lodge applications for projects against the
program guidelines for the RJIP program.

Senator WATT: The questions you took on notice from Senator McCarthy I think were:
who was nominated to serve on these committees and whether local members were involved
in the selection of those committees—is that right?

Ms Wieland: Those were the questions that were asked, yes.
Ms Taylor: The process for establishing the committees was taken on notice.

Senator WATT: Are you able to answer any questions about, in a general sense, what the
process was for determining what types of industries would get funding from each
committee? Was that something that was left to each committee to work out?

Ms Wieland: It was left to each committee—is my understanding.
Senator WATT: Did it need approval from anyone higher up in the department or was it
completely a decision for the local committee?

Ms Taylor: It was the committee's decision. They identified the priorities for investment
in their region. And I can tell you, from looking at the guidelines for RJIP, that the minister at
the time did appoint the local planning committee in each region, so it would've been the
minister appointing that committee.

RURAL AND REGIONAL AFFAIRS AND TRANSPORT LEGISLATION COMMITTEE
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Senator WATT: The minister appointed them, but you don't know whether the
department suggested possible names to the minister?

Ms Taylor: The normal course of events would be that the department would suggest
names. But, as Ms Wieland has indicated, we don't have direct knowledge. We will have to go
back and ask that question so we can give you an accurate answer.

Senator WATT: In terms of the grants that have been awarded to date, can you tell us
what the process is for that. Am I right that the local committee receives applications?

Ms Taylor: No.

Senator WATT: What can you tell us about the process?

Ms Taylor: Effectively there were two processes. The local committee's job was to
basically prepare these local investment plans. Once that was done, the local committee's job
was over. Those local plans then informed the assessment process, which was undertaken by
the grants hub on our behalf, so there was a competitive round open for a particular RJIP
region. One of the criteria was to assess the project against those priorities that are identified
in the plan, but that assessment was undertaken by the grants hub.

Senator WATT: Who's the grants hub?

Ms Taylor: That's the department of industry's grants hub.

Senator WATT: That's a Canberra based group?

Ms Taylor: That's right. That's the department of industry.

Ms Wieland: The grants hub is a Commonwealth whole-of-government grant assessment
centre, if you like. They do the assessment and the contracting arrangements for a number of
programs across Australian government.

Dr Kennedy: These are public servants.

Senator WATT: What policies apply to these RJIP grants to prevent a conflict of interest
involving a member of a local RJIP committee and a grant recipient?

Ms Wieland: The grant recipients themselves fill out any conflict of interest forms, but
the local planning committee members were also asked to sign a conflict of interest
declaration form. As we said earlier, the local committee had no role in the assessment or
awarding process. That assessment was done by the grants hub and recommendations were
provided to the government for decision.

Senator WATT: Can we step through that one by one. What you said was that the grant
recipients, or presumably applicants for funding—

Ms Wieland: They'll always benefit from the grant.

Senator WATT: Sure. Was it at the application stage? If I wanted to apply for a grant, I
would need to declare any conflict of interest that I had—is that what you meant by a grant
recipient declaring—

Ms Taylor: I don't think that is correct.
Ms Wieland: If I said that, I apologise.
Senator WATT: What conflicts did grant recipients need to declare?
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Ms Taylor: Let me clarify—the members of the local planning committee were asked to
declare conflicts and did.

Senator WATT: At what point?

Ms Wieland: At the time that they were appointed.

Ms Taylor: Yes, at the appointment point. In terms of an applicant for a grant under the
program, they were not required to submit any conflict of interest at that point because, of

course, any applicant applying for money has a direct interest in the outcome of that
application round.

Senator WATT: Was there any stage that grant recipients or applicants needed to disclose
any conflicts of interest involving the assessment process or those who were making decisions
about grants?

Ms Wieland: I'm not sure that there is a conflict of interest there. They're going to benefit
from the grant and they're not the decision maker, so they're not conflicted in that regard;
they're putting in an application.

Senator WATT: If there were a potential conflict involving those who were making
decisions about the awarding of grants—

Ms Wieland: They would be the people that would declare that conflict.

CHAIR: They are bureaucrats in a government agency somewhere here in Canberra.

Ms Wieland: That's correct.

Senator WATT: I think what you were just talking about was that the members of the
local committees who are not bureaucrats needed to disclose any conflicts as well.

Ms Taylor: That's right.

Ms Wieland: They did.

Senator WATT: What sorts of conflicts were they required to disclose? What kinds of
conflicts would they have that needed to be disclosed?

Ms Wieland: It was a standard declaration of conflicts of interest. I'd have to take the
details of that on notice. I don't have them in front of me.

Senator WATT: Could you take on notice to provide a copy of the form that they needed
to fill out. I suppose I'm just trying to get at whether they were required to disclose a potential
conflict of interest in relation to any applicants for grants.

Ms Taylor: If they were aware of any particular applicants that were coming forward, that
should have been covered in their conflict-of-interest declaration, I would've expected.

Senator WATT: That's a departmental policy?

Ms Taylor: There would be a standard conflict-of-interest declaration form, which they
would have been provided with to complete.

Senator WATT: Okay. If the department does identify a conflict of interest for a member
of one of these local committees, involving a recipient of a grant, what does the department
do in that situation?
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Ms Wieland: As far as I'm aware, we haven't had any declared conflicts of interest. There
has been one case cited in the media around that particular issue. As I understand it, both the
Australian Federal Police and the ANAO were looking at that particular grant.

Senator WATT: You're saying that no member of any of these local committees has
declared any conflict of interest?

Ms Wieland: That's what I'm saying.

Senator WATT: Right. And the department hasn't done any work to review whether any
conflicts of interest exist, aside from any declarations by committee members?

Ms Taylor: That would be something we would have to ask the grants hub. As managers
and assessors of the grants, they would be the ones that would've noticed that in the
application assessment process. We're certainly not privy to any that have been declared at the
application point.

Senator WATT: What would be the consequence of a member of one of these local
committees having a conflict of interest and not disclosing it?

Ms Wieland: You're asking me what decision a minister would take in terms of whether
they would've appointed that person or not. I'm not a decision-maker.

Senator WATT: If there is a policy that requires members of these committees to disclose
a conflict—

Ms Wieland: As I understand it, if a person filled out a conflict-of-interest form and
declared a conflict of interest, I would expect that the minister who was making that
appointment would either no longer proceed with the appointment or put appropriate
processes in place to manage that conflict.

Senator WATT: So it is the role of the minister to do something about that.
Ms Wieland: As I understand it, the minister wrote to the members of the committee to
appoint them. When writing to them, they were given the conflict-of-interest form.

Senator WATT: Bearing in mind our discussion this morning, Chair, I have put together
a few packs because there is one particular grant that I want to work through. So I'm happy to
table these and send them up.

CHAIR: Let's do this. Let's circulate them to the relevant people at the table, and the
voting senators should get a copy—and give us a bit of an opportunity to look through them.

Senator WATT: Sure. I have five copies here.

CHAIR: That should probably be sufficient. Do you have a particular witness who the
questions will be directed to?

Senator WATT: It's sounding like Ms Wieland and Ms Taylor ought to be the people
answering most of the questions.

CHAIR: We'll make sure they get a copy. As you know, the process is for the committee
to accept it as a tabled document before we give it to the witnesses. Senator Sterle and I might
quickly rush through it.

Senator STERLE: Seeing as it's from a senator—I've never knocked one back yet. I'm
happy to keep the precedence going.

CHAIR: I'll have a quick look. These are either matters of public record or—
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Senator WATT: There are some company searches which include residential addresses,
so we might need to take care with them, as we did this morning—otherwise, it's media
releases, media reports and company searches, so all public documents.

CHAIR: With the searches, we won't run into the same thing where we're challenged
whether the search relates to the entity—there's certainty around the entity?

Senator WATT: [ would have thought so.
CHAIR: Because of a corporate name unique to it?
Senator WATT: Corporate name or individual name.

Senator STERLE: What we can do, Chair, if you want to is—if the committee agrees—
while you're going through that to appease yourself and make sure you're happy, why don't
we go to Infrastructure Australia? We have about five minutes of questions for them. Then
they can go. How does that sound?

CHAIR: That would be useful. Are you able to arrange that, Dr Kennedy?

Dr Kennedy: Yes.

Senator STERLE: That will give Ms Taylor and Ms Wieland a chance to—

CHAIR: Senator, I didn't see a search on an individual. I've seen a couple on corporate—

Senator WATT: Sorry, there are a couple of directors of companies but there are
individual—

CHAIR: If there's no confusion over the company, if the company name is unique to your
line of questioning, then it's a moot point about the directors, is it not?

Senator WATT: Yes. I don't know if there are people back at the office listening in. I
think the officials here know the grant that I'm referring to. If there are people back at the
office who have some information, it might be helpful if they can be listening in.

CHAIR: All right. The copy that needs to go to the witness needs to have the address
redacted. And the copy you tender to Hansard needs to have the address redacted. The rest we
can hand back to Senator Watt when we're done. We'll now go across to Infrastructure
Australia and come back to this once we've had a chance to have a look at it.

Infrastructure Australia
[17:33]
CHAIR: Welcome. We'll give the call to Senator McCarthy.

Senator McCARTHY: Hello, Mr Davies. To date, has the NAIF board sought the views
of Infrastructure Australia on the merits of any investment proposal currently before them?

Mr Davies: I was hoping to make an opening statement, if that's agreeable?

Senator McCARTHY: I beg your pardon; yes, please. We have had no-one do that so far,
so go ahead!

ACTING CHAIR (Senator Sterle): In the absence of the chair, by all means, Mr Davies.
Mr Davies: Do I hand it over?

ACTING CHAIR: It's up to you.

Mr Davies: We've got copies, if you'd like one.
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documents aren't—and I have no objection to these documents being tabled, and no other
senator has any objections. Firstly, can we have our witnesses back for Regional
Development and Local Government Division?

Dr Kennedy: Part of this activity is undertaken by the grants hub, the entity we've been
talking about that is run by the Department of Industry, Innovation and Science. Because
these responsibilities cross both portfolios, we'll do our best but I'm wondering if we should
appear with them together so we could both answer questions. For example, the assessment
aspects of grants that my colleagues were talking about earlier are undertaken by those
officials, and any matters of concern around a specific grant are addressed directly by that set
of officials. Yet, as my officials were talking about earlier, we were part of the process of
sending out those conflict-of-interest forms for the people on the panels that identify the
industries of specific interest. But it's up to the committee.

Senator STERLE: Dr Kennedy—through you, Chair—are they in the building now?

Dr Kennedy: No. This is a suggestion of what we would have to do. We could either join
them in their hearing—my officials could sit with their officials and we could join together—
or, as you have another day of us tomorrow, we could find a slot tomorrow and I could ask
their officials to come and join us. Or we can just have a crack now. It's up to you. But there
may be some questions where, because it's not strictly our area, we have to say—

CHAIR: [ think they're all good suggestions. Firstly, I'm keenly interested as to whether
we've had any luck in determining that this matter is currently under investigation. I've got the
news report of 4 May. Let me read it into the Hansard. Or you can do it, Senator, if you
choose. It says:

The Australian Federal Police yesterday also confirmed they had finalised a month-long probe into an
individual complaint of alleged fraud and official misconduct ...
Does the witness have this batch of papers? We'll need the—

Secretary interjecting—

CHAIR: Okay. The addresses have been redacted. Without identifying any of the players
in this, it says that this was the subject of a Federal Police investigation of 'alleged fraud and
official misconduct over the handling of the'—and it makes reference to a grant—and says:
The AFP did not identify any Commonwealth criminal offences, a spokesman says.

That's the limit of what's before me to determine whether this is currently under investigation,
Commonwealth offences or otherwise. Can anyone assist?

Dr Kennedy: That is our understanding too. But—to go to that point of relevant

officials—the relevant officials that would have interacted with the AFP in that process—

CHAIR: Are the other mob?

Dr Kennedy: are the relevant officials in the grants hub. If the senator was about to ask
questions about that interaction, that matter, it was handled by that set of officials. However,
as to the questions you were asking earlier, Senator—around who appointed the panels and
what was required—that is us. That's why I offered that suggestion. But my understanding is
the same as yours.

CHAIR: What I don't want to do is anything that inhibits Senator Watt's opportunity, at
his timing, to pursue this matter. He is entitled to; in fact, he has a responsibility to.
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Senator WATT: My preference would be to push on, because the reality is that this is an
allocation from your department, approved by your minister.

Dr Kennedy: Yes.
Senator WATT: So it might be that we need to come back to the others.

CHAIR: It would aid me greatly in comfort to know whether any of your people have a
connection with these people who approved the grants—the people we're talking about
joining? Do you know them?

Ms Wieland: To explain the process, the people who—

CHAIR: No, I don't need that. I just need to know whether you can pick up your
telephone and ring one of these people and ask one simple, specific question.

Ms Taylor: I can confirm that our advice is as your advice—that there was an AFP
investigation undertaken but it has closed and there was no criminality identified as a result.

CHAIR: All right.

Ms Taylor: But that is advice that has been given to us from the grants hub officials.

CHAIR: Thank you. Dr Kennedy, Senator Watt has indicated an interest in trying to deal
with whatever questions he can with your team.

Dr Kennedy: Okay.

CHAIR: Senator Watt, the document has been redacted, so it might be a couple of
minutes before the witness has it. Have you got a batch?

Senator WATT: I do.

CHAIR: For the purposes of this, could the secretariat give the redacted copy to the
witness please. I'm told it might take a minute.

Senator WATT: Can we give it a go—

CHAIR: Without the document?

Senator WATT: Without the document.

CHAIR: Sure.

Senator WATT: I'll quote sections to you.

CHAIR: Yes. Senator Watt.

Senator Scullion: The only concern I have—and I think it's gone—was around having
absolute clarification that the Federal Police have, in fact, completed their investigation. It's

just a newspaper article. I know, Senator Watt, you wouldn't want to be asking questions that
would have an impact on such a thing.

Senator WATT: Correct.

Senator Scullion: The information officer has just provided that she has some information
from someone else. So it would appear that that is the case. The other piece of the information
is that I think you indicated that the board was making the decision. I just thought, before we
start with that, perhaps, misapprehension, Mr Secretary might want to qualify or just correct
that.

Dr Kennedy: That's correct.
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Senator WATT: But each of the grants was ultimately signed off by your minister.
Senator Scullion: That's correct.

Senator WATT: Who, at the time they were done, was Minister McVeigh.

Ms Taylor: Yes.

CHAIR: Can I ask one qualifying question, so I get it in my head. I'm obviously going to
follow this very closely. We have a local advisory committee. I understand how those
positions were made up. Names were put forward. The minister decided who would be on it.
They looked at a local area plan, for want of a better term, and said, 'Look, here are two, four,
six, eight or 10 things that would work in this community.' They provided that to the minister.
Then, separate to this, is a grants process where applicants can apply for grants. Senator Watt
will pursue this line himself, but let me ask this as a principle statement: there may well be
things on the list of recommendations from the local committee that are not the subjects of
applications for grants—correct?

Dr Kennedy: Yes. The application for a grant is entirely a matter for the applicant.

CHAIR: For the applicant. So they might make an application for a grant even though
they are not on the wish list, if you like, that's come from the community. Is the wish list from
the community available to the decision-makers? I'm keenly interested in this before Senator
Watt starts. So over there the bureaucrats have got applications from Fred and Betty to put a
chook farm at Charlton. Do they get to have a look at the local area committee's
recommendations to see if the chook farm's on there?

Ms Taylor: It might help if I give you a bit of a sense of the type of plan that's produced. I
did have a look at this particular plan. Basically, what it did is identify broad sectors for
investment, if you like. In the case of this particular one, it identified the sectors of creative
arts, culture, building and construction, defence, marine, tourism, health, and education and
training. So they were quite broad in the priorities that were set by the local planning
committee, at least in that instance.

CHAIR: Yes. So there was no recommendation of describing metes and bounds, or, 'We
will put an abattoir.'

Ms Taylor: No, they are not specific projects. They are very high categories of sectors, if
you like.

CHAIR: Coming back to my question, then: do the decision-making bureaucrats who've
got the grants in front of them have the benefit of this plan?

Ms Taylor: Yes.

CHAIR: Do they go, 'They've said abattoir; they haven't got abattoir'?

Ms Taylor: Yes, they do.

CHAIR: That's all I need. Senator Watt, you have the call.

Senator WATT: You've taken on notice both my question and Senator McCarthy's
questions about the process for the selection of chairs and members of the different
committees. Turning to the Tropical North Queensland local committee, which was

effectively based around the electorate of Leichhardt, did the department suggest the names of
the members and chair of that particular local committee?

RURAL AND REGIONAL AFFAIRS AND TRANSPORT LEGISLATION COMMITTEE



The Administration of Government Grants: Inquiry into Auditor-General's Reports 5, 12 and 23 (2019-20)
Submission 9 - Supplementary Submission 4

Monday, 21 May 2018 Senate Page 139

Ms Wieland: Sorry, could you repeat the question?

Senator WATT: I'll give you the heads-up when you need to refer to something, if that
makes it easier for you.

Ms Taylor: I think as we've indicated, we both were not involved in the program at the
time. I think I indicated earlier that it would be commonplace for the department to
recommend in the first instance people that could be on a committee. But in that instance the
minister made the appointment. I haven't got anything further I can add at the moment. I can
take it on notice.

Senator WATT: But, in short, you don't know yourself whether the department suggested
the names of either the chair or the members of this particular committee.

Ms Taylor: No.

Senator WATT: You'll take that on notice?

Ms Taylor: Yes.

Senator WATT: Do you know whether the local member—the member for Leichhardt—
made any suggestions or was consulted about the membership of this committee?

Ms Wieland: That would be a matter for the minister at the time. I'm not aware. We'll take
it on notice.

Senator WATT: You don't know and you'll take that on notice. The first document I've
given to you there is a press release from the member for Leichhardt, Mr Entsch, dated 19
January 2017. This was prior to the appointment of the chair and members. You'll notice that
down the bottom of the first page he says, 'I've been working with the Minister for Regional
Development, Senator Fiona Nash, over the past couple of months and have recommended a
number of local people who could contribute a wealth of local knowledge to the panel.' I
suppose that makes me think that the local member has been involved in at least suggesting
members, if not appointing them. But you'll take that on notice as to whether that occurred.

Dr Kennedy: We'll take on notice exactly our role in that process.

Senator WATT: Okay. And do you know—

CHAIR: Sorry, Senator Watt. You can confirm that the local member didn't have any
authority to appoint these people?

Ms Taylor: Yes, we can. The minister made the appointments.

Senator WATT: I'm more asking about whether the local member suggested people. I
understand that it was the minister who made the appointments.

CHAIR: Yes. Okay.

Senator WATT: Do you know whether the department suggested that Mr Trent Twomey
be appointed as a member or the chair of the Tropical North Queensland committee?

Ms Taylor: No. We will have to take that on notice.

Senator WATT: Do you know whether Mr Entsch, the member for Leichhardt, suggested
that Mr Trent Twomey be appointed as a member or chair?

Ms Taylor: No.
Senator WATT: You don't know?
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Ms Taylor: I don't know.
Dr Kennedy: We'll work that out.

Senator WATT: Take that on notice. Because you'll see that the next document, which is
a press release from Minister Nash, who was the minister at the time, dated 30 January 2017,
notes that Mr Trent Twomey has been appointed as the chair of the committee. Then it goes
on to mention the names of the other members. Was the department aware at the time Mr
Twomey was appointed as the chair of this committee that he had been the campaign manager
for the member for Leichhardt, Mr Entsch?

Ms Wieland: I would have to take that on notice. Obviously when I came into this job I
saw the media that was available at the time. That was the first time I became aware of it.

Senator WATT: You will see there that I have an article dated 22 March from the Cairns
Post. You're saying that was the first time you became aware that Mr Twomey, who was the
chair of the local committee, had been Mr Entsch's campaign manager.

Ms Taylor: Neither Ms Wieland nor I were actually in these roles at the time. We have
seen the articles as they appeared in the press.

Dr Kennedy: But I do think it is appropriate for us to take on notice to ask whether the
department was aware, and to examine our own correspondence.

Senator WATT: It would be helpful. I don't know whether there is anyone back at the
office watching in who would know—who had some personal involvement—but it would be
helpful if we could get some answers on some of those things even this evening, if that's
possible.

Dr Kennedy: We will try, but it will involve us digging through correspondence.

Senator WATT: Sure. Who was it, then, that suggested that the priority sectors for grants
in this local area should include healthcare projects? Were you saying before that that was the
responsibility of the local committee?

Ms Taylor: The committee, yes.

Senator WATT: So the committee chaired by Mr Twomey decided the industries that
were eligible for funding—that's right?

Ms Taylor: They identified the priority sectors, that's right.

Senator WATT: Yes. And in doing so, they are the sectors where grants could be
provided.

Ms Wieland: As long as they met the eligibility criteria.

Senator WATT: Yes. That's the point of having a variety of sectors. I think what you said

before was that there wasn't any departmental intervention in that. That was really a decision
at the local level. Okay.

Is the department aware that Mr Twomey, in addition to being the chair of the local
committee, has extensive business interests in pharmacies in North Queensland? I've got a
copy of Mr Twomey's bio, which says that he and his wife are both pharmacists and, together,
they are partners in a group of seven pharmacies. Was the department aware of that before
now?

Ms Wieland: Again, we'll have to take that on notice.
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Senator WATT: Okay, but you are not aware?
Ms Wieland: I'm not aware.

Senator WATT: In relation to this particular grant, you've said that there was an article in
the Cairns Post on 22 March which raised all these concerns about a particular grant that had
been approved. That was a grant announced on 22 February. It was a grant of $2.4 million to
a company called QRX Group 1 Pty Ltd, essentially to establish a pharmaceutical distribution
centre in Cairns. Are you aware of that grant?

Ms Wieland: Yes. I'm also aware of that newspaper article. That's how I became aware of
this issue.

Senator WATT: Did your department recommend that grant be made?

Ms Wieland: I'm not sure. I'll have to look into that.

Dr Kennedy: Do you want us to explain the process for the recommendation of grants?
Senator WATT: I'm guessing it probably involves the grants hub.

Ms Wieland: That's right.

Dr Kennedy: So we make a recommendation—and I'll just confirm this as I go through—
and it goes to a ministerial panel. Am I correct?

Ms Wieland: Yes.

Dr Kennedy: The ministerial panel then makes a decision around those grants that came
from the grants hub. They pass through us, of course. Then that final decision is endorsed.

Senator WATT: Is your department's involvement essentially to endorse decisions that
are made or recommended by the grants hub?

Dr Kennedy: It's to prepare the briefing after the hub—

Ms Taylor: We would package up for the minister the proposals that have been assessed
by the grants hub, and the minister would, in conjunction with the ministerial panel—he
actually is the chair of the ministerial panel that looks at these grants—make those decisions
and then those decisions are endorsed or not by the cabinet.

Senator WATT: Do you know whether the member for Leichhardt, Mr Entsch, made any
representations on behalf of QRX?

Ms Taylor: We're not aware of any.

Senator WATT: You don't know that? You'll see in some of those clips that I have
provided to you Mr Entsch has certainly taken a lot of credit for these decisions. There's an
article from 23 June 2016 which says that 'Leichhardt MP Warren Entsch will also be
involved in the decision-making process.' On 22 January 2018, he said that departmental staff
had assured him the successful projects 'would be named before February'. On 5 February he
said that he'd got the department 'pinned down to a date' for an announcement. So he seems to
be pretty actively involved in the decision-making process. But you're not aware of any
representations he made?

Dr Kennedy: No. Just to be clear, the departmental decision-making process within the
grants hub—and I am aware of the grants hub; I've formally had responsibility for that
division—is carried out by those public servants, not in consultations with members of
parliament. I can't tell from that correspondence. They can answer questions around the
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timing of processes but not any specific matter. You can, of course, pursue it with them to ask
questions of them and see if they had correspondence with Mr Entsch.

Senator WATT: Can you take on notice from your department's point of view, though,
whether you received any representations from the Mr Entsch on behalf of QRX.

Dr Kennedy: I'm very happy to do that.

Senator WATT: Are you aware that QRX, which received a $2.4 million grant from your
department, is one-third owned by the wife of Mr Twomey, who chaired the local committee
that oversaw these grants—

Ms Wieland: We're aware that's what was stated in the media.

Senator WATT: and that drew up the priority sectors?

CHAIR: Hold on, please. Let's get this language right. This is a serious thing. You should
listen to the question. He just said that they oversaw the grants. Could you clear that up for the
senator. They did not oversee the grants.

Ms Wieland: The local committees had no role in assessments of or decision-making
about the grants. All the role they had was in establishing this local investment plan.

Senator WATT: Are you aware that QRX, which received a $2.4 million grant, is one-
third owned by the wife of Mr Twomey, who chaired the committee in the area in which this
grant was made?

Ms Wieland: I was not aware of that until the allegations were made.

Senator WATT: In the media?

Ms Wieland: That's correct.

Senator WATT: Are you aware that one of the other owners of QRX, which received the
grant, is Mr Twomey's business partner, Mr Leo Maltam?

Ms Wieland: 1 wasn't aware of that.

Senator WATT: Right now is the first time you've become aware of that? Okay. Again,
you'll see there are company searches there that demonstrate that. I see that Mr Maltam and
Mr Twomey are shareholders and partners in a number of companies, including FNQ INV,
which presumably means Investments Pty Ltd, and Twaltam Pty Ltd, which seems to be a
combination of their two surnames. But you weren't aware that Mr Twomey's business partner
was also an owner of this company that got a grant?

Ms Wieland: No. As I said earlier, the assessment of the grants in a merit-based process
was undertaken by the grants hub.

Senator WATT: Are you aware that Mr Entsch's own son works for QRX, the company
that received this $2%5 million grant?

Ms Wieland: No, I'm not aware of that.

Senator WATT: That's in that article dated 22 March as well. So, putting all this together,
if these allegations are correct—that a $2% million grant has been made to a company which

is part-owned by the wife and business partner of the local committee involved in these
grants—
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CHAIR: I'm sorry, Senator. We're going to have to be careful with the language. This
committee was not involved in the grants. The witnesses have been at great pains to explain
that.

Senator WATT: Okay. I'll put it another way.

CHAIR: I don't think you should refer to them as allegations, because they are facts. They
are undisputed facts.

Senator WATT: I'm happy for you to put it that way. The facts seem to be that a $2%
million grant has been made to a company which is part-owned by the wife and business
partner of Mr Entsch's former campaign manager who chaired the committee in the area in
which this grant occurred. Further, the recipient of the grant employs Mr Entsch's own son.
Does any of that suggest to you that the department's policies for conflicts of interest have
been breached?

Dr Kennedy: That's a complex set of questions. I'd have to take them on notice. But, to go
back to the earlier point, our focus is on interference with the merit-based process or conflicts
that would arise in the merit-based process or inappropriate influence over officials. I'm not
aware of any of that occurring in this case. But, in light of your questions, and in light of your
questioning of our processes, I'm more than happy to look at our processes in more detail.

Senator WATT: Sure. These—as Senator O'Sullivan says—facts have been in the public
domain now for well over a month. Has your department not conducted any investigation to
determine whether any of your conflict of interest policies have been breached?

Dr Kennedy: Around the establishment of panels?

Senator WATT: Around the establishment of panels, around the awarding of grants,
around representations being made for particular recipients—around any of it?

Ms Wieland: It's quite common for grant recipients to have some relationship with their
local members. These companies or businesses or local government —

Senator WATT: To employ their sons?
CHAIR: Let the witness answer.

Ms Wieland: In doing our process, we sought a conflict of interest declaration from every
committee member. The fact that the ministerial panel is completely separate and the grants
hub is completely separate from that local planning process tells me that the risk of fraud or
other means of deception is reasonably low. But, as we said earlier, the AFP have looked into
this particular case and not found anything of significance.

Senator WATT: Well, they haven't found fraud. That's a different matter to whether your
departmental policies have been breached. And you're right: in my earlier questioning you
said that the department had not received any declarations of conflicts of interest from any
members of the local committees. So, I take it that Mr Twomey hasn't declared a conflict of
interest.

Ms Taylor: 1 think what we indicated was that all members of the local planning
committee had completed conflict of interest declarations. So, that certainly has occurred.

Senator WATT: Yes. And correct me if I'm wrong, but I think you also said that no
member of a committee had declared that they had a conflict of interest.
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Ms Wieland: That we're aware of—that's correct.

Senator WATT: From that, that obviously means that Mr Twomey hasn't declared a
conflict of interest.

Dr Kennedy: Well, we had better just go and check our records on that.

Senator WATT: Okay. But, again, I'm kind of surprised that this has been in the public
domain for several weeks. These are pretty serious allegations, and it doesn't sound like any
investigation has occurred from the department.

CHAIR: Senator, I'm probably going to spend as much time on this as you. If it assists
you, I'm happy to start, so that you can come and contradict my line of questioning, because
I'm afraid I haven't arrived, on the evidence in front of me, at the same position that you have.
So, do you mind if I ask some clarifying questions and—

Senator WATT: Sure. I'd be interested to hear how this isn't a conflict of interest.

CHAIR: Firstly, let us just take the circumstance—and you've heard what Senator Watt's
had to say, and the assertions made. Let's go firstly to the primary aspect of his appointment
to a local area committee. Have you heard anything, or has any evidence been presented to
you here today, that would suggest that there was something untoward with respect to the
appointment of Mr Twomey to the local area committee? Feel free. If there's something that
disturbed you around that, that would trigger you to take a further interest or investigate, then
just say so. Has there been anything? His appointment to a local area committee, full stop.

Dr Kennedy: Our advice around any appointment to a local area committee would be a
person who has strong interest and understanding of the local area and is able to provide
advice around the priorities of that area. And I don't know this—

CHAIR: He's the chairman of a very prominent organisation called Advance Cairns,
which may be of some assistance to you, in terms of his qualifications.

Dr Kennedy: That would suggest a good knowledge of those issues. And it does sound to
me like all the appropriate safeguards were in place for decision-making around the grant—

CHAIR: No, we're going to get to that. I'm sorry, Dr Kennedy, but we need to unpack
this. It's been built with elements. I need to unpack them, one element at a time. So, the
burden of my question is: based on everything you've heard and asserted here this evening on
this subject matter, is there anything that disturbs you or would have enlivened your
department to do something different in relation to the appointment of this individual to the
local area committee?

Ms Taylor: Not in my view. If you have a look at Professor Twomey's qualifications, he
was, as you said, chairman of Advance Cairns, obviously very prominent in the local region,
with a good understanding of the local economics. So, on its face, he would seem to be a
reasonably good choice for chairing a local planning committee of that nature.

CHAIR: Sure. So, if you were looking on the papers—the recommendations that were
made with respect to the categories by this Advance committee—do those categories look
reasonably generic? Would you find duplication in that, with these committees in other
places? Would they have recommended defence and health and sport, or something?

Dr Kennedy: They are a wide-ranging set of categories that appear regularly in all of the
panels.
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CHAIR: Sure. So far, nothing would have triggered, even with all of the knowledge that
you've been provided with tonight. Nothing so far has triggered.

Dr Kennedy: That's right.

CHAIR: Mr Twomey and six or seven others—we have to put them all in the one boat
here—have signed off on this area plan and it goes in the mail. We've heard no assertion, but
do you believe that it would be—I'll get you to take it on notice. Is there any prospect that Mr
Twomey would have had any dealings with the grants committee? Was there any mechanism
there, pathways, obligations or opportunities?

Ms Taylor: Not to our knowledge.
Dr Kennedy: None that we're aware of.

CHAIR: In fact, for the grants committee to take a call off someone, where there's an
application before them, that would be a matter of concern, would it not?

Dr Kennedy: They would all be recorded. The grants process requires the calls around the
grant to be directed of the proponent. But it would be a matter of record that the grants hub
would have.

CHAIR: Remember, we are confining this to Mr Twomey. If the senator wants to move
on to other lines, we'll deal with him as we do. I don't want to put hypotheticals, but in the
absence of you coming back with the questions on notice, and Mr Twomey hasn't had any
contact with the grants committee, we'll move now to the parliamentary committee that
decides on how the grant is established. There's an application. It goes to a grants committee.
Shortlists are made on merit and qualification, I imagine. Your job, almost, is the postman. It
comes back to the department. The department takes it to the minister.

Now we have another process. It involves elected members of parliament, as I understand
it, who sit around in the teepee and look at recommendations. They'll look at applications;
they'll look at a range of things. And they'll make a decision about whether a grant should be
issued. Unless there's been a line of communication between Mr Twomey or some other
person and that group at the table, would there be anything, in your view—or when you've
looked at the grants on the way through. Could you have looked at an application and gone,
'I'd better be careful here,’ because of some feature that's going to influence you to make a
decision, one way or the other?

Ms Taylor: On the basis that the local planning committee was completely divorced from
the assessment process that was undertaken, in terms of the recommendation of the grants,
and therefore independent of the actual decision, no. We do not see anything of relevance here
for further investigation.

CHAIR: Let me bundle all this together. We've done a lot of talking. We've provided a lot
of documents. You be as adventurous as you like in your answer on this. Can you think of one
thing, one sheet, one paragraph, one line, one assertion, one allegation, one exchange here,
that would cause you to say Mr Twomey had a conflict of interest and he should have
declared it? If so, what is that perceived conflict of interest? The vibe I pick up is it can only
be that somewhere he, with seven other people around the table who know exactly what his
business interests are in the community, had collectively agreed to put health in with Defence
and tourism and half a dozen other things. You can be as adventurous as you like. Would you
say to Mr Twomey, 'l think you probably have a little conflict here and you should have dealt
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with it'? Anything—the whole expansion of what we've heard here tonight. Let's go one at a
time.

I'll start with you, Ms Wieland. Can you think of anything that you would tell Mr Twomey
to do differently because he may have had a little conflict?

Senator WATT: Or the applicant, for funding.

CHAIR: We can go there next, if you want. We can work through every resident of
Cairns until we get there. This focus has been on—

Senator WATT: I'll just stick with Mr Twomey and his wife.

CHAIR: With respect, I didn't interrupt you. Ms Wieland, do you have any advice for Mr
Twomey?

Ms Wieland: You're getting to the heart of what it is that you ask people to declare in a
conflict-of-interest form. Essentially, if you wanted to be totally transparent, you would want
them to list any relationships with any government members.

CHAIR: Well, okay; all right. Well, he—
Ms Wieland: That's what we're talking about.

CHAIR: If he tried to conceal that, given that he was Warren Entsch's campaign director,
he hasn't done a good job. But on the circumstance that you have—

Dr Kennedy: Perhaps if—

CHAIR: No, sorry, Dr Kennedy—and I don't mean to interrupt you—I'm going for a
trifecta here, if I can. I'm asking Ms Wieland whether she has any advice for Professor
Twomey—her conflicts.

Ms Wieland: I can't give advice—

CHAIR: On the evidence you've got in front of you—nothing; all right. Ms Taylor, do
you have any advice for Professor Twomey?

Ms Taylor: On the basis that the job of the committee was to identify broad areas of
priority for the Far North Queensland region—and that's quite a significant region—if it were
the case perhaps that the committee was required to identify particular projects then clearly he
should have declared a conflict of interest in relation to his business interests. But because
basically the job they were asked to do is identify broad sectoral priorities, I think it's
reasonable that Mr Twomey didn't actually identify his particular business interests in that
process.

Senator WATT: Wow.

CHAIR: Good. And he's not on his own either, of course. He and six others are at the
table. Do you have any advice for him, Ms Taylor, about what he may have done differently
in form of a conflict? It's a genuine question. This is an important issue. We've got a man's
reputation here, again, on full display, national display—a live broadcast. I want to be sure
that we're all on the same page.

Dr Kennedy: We have to take it on notice, because we don't have the precise details of
what was in the—is that correct?

CHAIR: And if Professor Twomey's declared some conflict, then good luck. I'm asking:
on the evidence we have—there have been quite serious assertions here that rolled on: Federal
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Police, sons employed, Warren Entsch's mate, pharmaceuticals, partners and so on. They've
been quite serious allegations; they are arriving at the door of: he's had a conflict, don't you
think? I'm asking whether, on the basis of everything in front of you, you've established that
he has a conflict. Well, maybe the burden should go this way—

Senator STERLE: You're not going to go to jail if you answer it!
CHAIR: And I don't care what the answer is. Say yes if you choose to, or—

Senator STERLE: Geez; just do it, please! For Christ's sake, I don't want to be sitting
here at 11 o'clock still following the same bloody line of questioning.

CHAIR: Let's go to you, Dr Kennedy. You can answer it this way, with some detail. You
tell me what, as you were sitting there thinking through this, back at the consultative
committee, you would have done differently around how that operates or how they're
appointed.

Senator STERLE: Go on, people. Will you just friggin' answer?

Dr Kennedy: Given the broad extent of what the committee was asked to identify—the
broad regions and the regions that were read out by Ms Taylor—then no, I don't think this
person had a form of a direct conflict of interest.

CHAIR: Thank you.

Senator WATT: If you're finished, Chair, can [—

CHAIR: Of course.

Senator WATT: I am stunned that you don't think that there's a conflict of interest here.
But can I remind you of departmental policies that apply to this? The sample grant agreement
for these Regional Jobs and Investment Packages has a section—section 7, 'Conflict of
interest—and presumably these are what have to be signed by people who get these grants. It
says:

Other than those which have already been disclosed to the Commonwealth, the Grantee warrants that, to
the best of its knowledge, at the date of this Agreement, neither it nor its officers have any actual,
perceived or potential conflicts of interest in relation the Activity.

And people are asked, as part of this document, to declare, as part of their application, any
perceived or existing conflicts of interests or declare that to the best of their knowledge there's
no conflict of interest. So, you're seriously saying that you don't think there's any conflict of
interest that needs to be disclosed?

Senator COLBECK: For clarification: the document that you're reading from—
Senator WATT: And that you should have in your bundle, yes.

Senator COLBECK: is a declaration in the context of receiving the grant?

Senator WATT: It's part of the agreement that people who receive grants need to sign.

Senator COLBECK: So, why aren't you reading the document that comes to being a
member of the consultative committee? They're two different things.

Senator WATT: I'm asking—
Senator COLBECK: Listening to this, there are two processes. One is to be a member of

the consultative committee. The individual involved has participated in the consultative
committee, provided a report back to the department and that work is completed. He has then
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gone and, in a separate process, made an application for a grant, which, unless I'm mistaken,
he wouldn't have been disqualified from doing.

Dr Kennedy: Sorry; I may have missed something here. This gentleman didn't
subsequently make an application for a grant.

Senator WATT: No, but his wife did.

CHAIR: The company did.

Senator WATT: A company that his wife part-owned and his business partner owned.

CHAIR: This'll help. You're a lawyer, Senator Watt. So they can answer the question, can
you particularise the conflict of failure on the document for them. Did he not say, 'l was a

member of a consultative committee that recommended eight areas, one of which was health'?
Is that what you're saying the conflict is?

Senator WATT: I'm amazed that I have to spell this out for you. I think there's a
reasonable argument that there's a conflict if a company which is part-owned by two different
people, one of whom is the wife of the chair of the committee that has designed the
guidelines—I'm not saying they awarded the grant—and identified the sectors—

CHAIR: That's a very long bow.

Senator WATT: Are you saying this committee is completely divorced from the process?
CHAIR: Based on the evidence—

Senator WATT: It's ridiculous! Why have it?

Senator COLBECK: It goes back to my question—

CHAIR: Hold on, please; I see the witnesses all agreeing with me. Based on all of the
evidence here tonight, there is a void between them that can't be bridged.

Senator WATT: This is amazing!

CHAIR: If you believe that Twomey had dinner with the chair of the grants committee,
you're up for the cup.

Senator WATT: I'm not saying that.

CHAIR: If you believe Twomey wrote to him or her, or rang them on the phone and
threatened their kids, you are up for the cup. But there is not one single bit of evidence that
Trent Twomey has had a conflict of interest with a grant made by a company—

Senator WATT: Do you know Trent Twomey?

CHAIR: I know Trent Twomey well, and I'm happy to defend him until midnight. He's a
very decent man and very well respected in the Cairns community. I'm just saying that you
haven't made the case. I think we're going over some really old ground now.

Dr Kennedy: I need to make one point of clarification. The panels did not design the
grants process, to be absolutely clear. The panels selected broad areas that were seen as
priority areas for those areas. They did not design the merit based process that the grants hub
then applied; they had no role in that. Their role was simply to say, 'These are the areas that
we think are priorities for growth in this region.' As I mentioned in my earlier evidence, the
set of areas that was defined for this region, off the top of my head, would have covered—

Ms Taylor: Almost everything.
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Dr Kennedy: almost everything, or 70 per cent or more of the economy. There's no direct
connection between that and the subsequent merit based process.

Senator WATT: If you're so convinced that there's been no conflict of interest—

Dr Kennedy: You've asked us for an assessment at the table and we've done our best, of
course.

Senator WATT: Okay. It doesn't sound like you've done any investigation of your own
up until now to determine whether there was a conflict of interest.

CHAIR: But there's nothing to investigate.

Senator WATT: That's your view. You have a different view of conflicts of interest to
me.

CHAIR: We talked about the triggers. You can point them to the triggers they missed, if
you like.

Dr Kennedy: We're certainly doing our best to answer at the table.
Senator WATT: Sure.

Dr Kennedy: Of course these are matters that are serious, and we will reflect on them and
go back and think about them. I don't want to leave you with a sense of, 'Okay, we're
finished.' We're doing our best at the table. Parts of these processes we don't own or control,
as I said, just to be clear.

Ms Taylor: We were aware that there was an AFP investigation on foot. We understood
that there was an investigation, as I indicated earlier. The advice we've received from the hub
is that that has been completed and there were no findings of criminality or fraud, I believe.

Senator WATT: Why is it then, according to The Cairns Post of 4 May, that Australia's
Auditor-General has detailed plans to order an independent investigation into the entire
Regional Jobs and Investment Packages program rolled out across 10 pilot regions from Far
North Queensland to Tasmania?

Dr Kennedy: It's entirely appropriate for the ANAO to work through and audit all of our
programs, which it does.

Senator WATT: According to this article, the Auditor-General has told how his decision
to audit the entire program follows concerns about a potential conflict of interest and
shortfalls in a project awarded $2.4 million—this project. It doesn't seem to be a general audit.

Dr Kennedy: We can't comment on a Cairns Post article. What we can say is that, should
the Auditor-General and the ANAO choose to audit the program, I regard that as entirely
appropriate and reasonable. As it should, it works through all of the programs in the
department. If it has chosen to audit that program—I don't know the basis upon which it has
chosen to do that—that's entirely appropriate.

Senator WATT: Has the Auditor-General had any communication with you about this
audit?

Ms Taylor: All we know is that this program is on the work program for the next financial
year. We've known that for some time. I can't comment on what factors were taken into
account by the Auditor-General, other than I do know that it's quite common for the ANAO to
audit our programs.
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Senator WATT: But, aside from this ordinary process of reviews by the Auditor-General,
they haven't made any contact with you about an audit of this program?

Ms Wieland: In terms of the audit of the broader program, not in relation to this particular
grant, no. The department has been made aware of the broader communication about auditing
the RJIP program. It's also on the ANAQ's website.

Senator WATT: How long ago did that happen—that you were told?
Ms Wieland: As part of their consultation on their work program for the upcoming year.
Dr Kennedy: I think the senator is seeking the timing on when that consultation—

Ms Taylor: We can take that on notice. I know we were consulted some time ago on a
draft work program from the ANAO, but I can't recall the exact date.

Senator WATT: Okay. The only other think I might ask then is: are you aware of
concerns in the Cairns community that this proposal that's been funded, rather than actually
creating new jobs—which is what this entire program's about—may actually see the reduction
of jobs or just jobs transferred from one business to another? Are you aware of those
concerns?

Ms Wieland: Sometimes those claims are made across a range of grants programs. The
issue of job creation is specified in the program guidelines about what's expected of people
and what they have to outline in their application.

Senator WATT: Another article from the Cairns Post on 22 March quotes another Cairns
pharmacist and pharmacy guild members who questioned whether the 20 new jobs allegedly
going to be created by this project are genuinely new or are just reshuffled from existing
pharmacies. Was any work done to ensure that there actually will be jobs created here?

Ms Taylor: The grants hub would have assessed the number of jobs under this particular
project. We would really need to consult with the officers who undertook that assessment.
But, by and large, my understanding is that guidance is given to applicants as to how to
evaluate and count the number of full-time equivalent jobs. We give that guidance to every
applicant. But largely, after that guidance has been given, the government relies on the
numbers that are put forward by the applicant. That's my understanding.

Senator WATT: To close off that, you have already addressed whether you consider there
to be a conflict of interest involving Mr Twomey and the applicant for the grant and recipient
of the grant. Are you aware of whether the member for Leichhardt has declared a conflict of
interest, given his connection to the chair of the local advisory committee?

Ms Taylor: I'm not aware of—

CHAIR: Again, if we're going to kick this door open, we'll be here till 10 pm. I'm not
going to let you do that, right? If you want to go line by line now—

Senator WATT: No, that's enough.

CHAIR: You've left it out there. If you want to go line by line now, suggesting that
Warren Entsch's had a conflict of interest, we'll be here until we have exhausted that as well.

If it's not a matter you want to pursue, I'm happy to close off for the evening meal. But, if you
want the allegation pursued, you feel free to go ahead.

Senator WATT: No, I'm happy—I've completed my questions.
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Senator McKenzie: I think it's important, before we go out and put words into people's
mouths and pretend that people are saying things they're clearly not, that we look at the whole
picture—

Senator WATT: I can show you the video.

Senator McKenzie: The Facebook post says it is pending a business case approval, which
I think it a good thing to do, a caveat to put on that—

Senator WATT: Sure. I think it's a great idea to actually tell the truth and where there are
caveats to say so—

Senator McKenzie: I look forward to Labor doing that in the next campaign.

Senator WATT: I encourage you to have a look at Ms Landry's video and you can make
your own judgements.

Senator McKenzie: And read it in the context of the post.

Senator WATT: Was there any application submitted for funding under this program for
infrastructure on Great Keppel Island?

Ms Taylor: We would probably have to take that on notice. That doesn't immediately
spring to mind.

Ms Zielke: I'm sorry, Senator, we have 337-odd applications.

Senator WATT: If you can take that on notice, because there certainly has been media
coverage in the central Queensland region that funding was being considered under this

program for Great Keppel Island infrastructure. Was an application made and what was the
outcome of that application? I presume the answer is that it hasn't proceeded to stage 2.

Senator McKenzie: I think given that we have over 300 and 16 are proceeding, there will
likely to be 280-odd plus projects that are very worthy and will have had local champions.

Senator WATT: I'm trying to clear up whether that one was applied for and what
happened to it. On another one of your grant programs, the RJIP program, which I think is
Regional Jobs and Investment Packages from memory—

Senator McKenzie: Yes.

Senator WATT: You might be remember at a previous estimates hearing [ was asking
some questions about a particular grant from that program, $2.4 million to a company called
QRX. It is company that is owned by the wife and business partner of Mr Trent Twomey,
who has been the campaign manager for the local member, the federal member Mr Entsch,
and QRX also employed Mr Entsch's son. I notice that there were a number of questions on
notice that you took from that hearing that have been answered in recent days. I wanted to
make sure that [ understood those answers correctly. What I think you've said is that—

Senator McKenzie: Do you have a question on notice there that we can actually refer to?
Senator WATT: Yes. | have copies with me.
Senator McKenzie: Which number?

Senator WATT: Let's start with No. 80. Before I go to questions on notice, has any
number been paid to that company?

Senator McKenzie: No, it hasn't.
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Senator WATT: Is that the same for all the RJIP grants?

Senator McKenzie: No. With that particular project, as I understand it, the proponent was
unable to source the required matching funding to commence the project.

Senator WATT: Soit's all over?

Senator McKenzie: It's all over red rover.

Senator WATT: Not happening?

Senator McKenzie: Not happening. That and another one in the Goulburn Valley.

Senator WATT: Question on notice No. 80, what you answered there was that Mr Entsch
wrote a letter to the then minister, Minister Nash, with names of potential members of the
local planning committee and the decision about the appointments was made by the minister.
What I don't think you answered there was whether Mr Twomey was one of the names that
Mr Entsch put forward. Do you know the answer to that? Could you take that on notice?

Ms Zielke: 1 see what you mean. In relation to it, no, I don't have that information in front
of me. But I see what you're getting at.

Senator WATT: But what we do know—ultimately Mr Twomey was appointed as the
chair of the local planning committee, which helped identify sectors where grants could be
approved. And what we know from the question on notice is that Mr Entsch supplied to the
minister some possible names for appointment, which may or may not have included Mr
Twomey, and that's what we'll clarify. And then question on notice No. 83: Mr Entsch wrote a
letter of support for the QRX grant application—a grant that was being sought by a company
that employed his son and that was owned by the wife and business partner of his campaign
manager. Mr Entsch wrote that letter of support. Could I ask you to table a copy of that letter,
please?

Senator McKenzie: 1 haven't seen that letter. I haven't seen the letter to Mr Nash, either.
So, I'm very happy to take that on notice.

Senator WATT: Sure. Again, I'm just going from the answers that have already been
given. So, if you could table a copy of that letter—

Senator McKenzie: I'll take that on notice.

Senator WATT: 1 also saw question on notice No. 86: Mr Twomey did complete a
Declaration of Personal Interest form and didn't declare any conflicts of interest when he was
appointed as the chair of the committee. Is my reading of that correct

Senator McKenzie: I think the other piece of that QON actually does outline that the
chair had no role in receiving, assessing, recommending or approving specific applications or
projects.

Senator WATT: No, I thin